

Defining Pilates exercise: A systematic review

Cherie Wells*, Gregory S. Kolt, Andrea Bialocerkowski

School of Science and Health, University of Western Sydney, Locked Bag 1797, Penrith, NSW, 2751, Australia Available online 13 March 2012

KEYWORDS Su Pilates; Ob Low back pain; De Exercise im Liti qu To an or qu pri the Re ex ins sta to co bri Co Co	<i>ijectives</i> : To describe Pilates exercise according to peer-reviewed literature, and compare finitions used in papers with healthy participants and those with low back pain. <i>sign</i> : A systematic review of literature was conducted. A search for ''pilates'' within the maxal date ranges of the Cochrane Library, Medline, Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health erature, Physiotherapy Evidence Database, ProQuest: Nursing and Allied Health Source, Proest: Medical and Health Complete, Scopus, Sport Discus, and Web of Science, was undertaken. be included, papers needed to describe Pilates exercise, and be published in English within academic, peer-reviewed journal. There were no restrictions on the methodological design quality of papers. Content analysis was used to record qualitative definitions of Pilates. Freencies were calculated for mention of content categories, equipment, and traditional Pilates nciples. Frequencies were then compared statistically in papers with healthy participants and bese with low back pain. <i>sults</i> : 119 papers fulfilled inclusion criteria. Findings suggest that Pilates is a mind—body ercise that focuses on strength, core stability, flexibility, muscle control, posture and breath-g. Exercises can be mat-based or involve use of specialised equipment. Posture was discussed tistically significantly more often in papers with participants with low back pain compared papers with healthy participants. Traditional Pilates principles of centering, concentration, ntrol, precision, flow, and breathing were discussed on average in 23% of papers. Apart from eathing, these principles were not mentioned in papers with low back pain participants. <i>nclusions</i> : There is a general consensus in the literature of the definition of Pilates exercise. greater emphasis may be placed on posture in people with low back pain, whilst traditional nciples, apart from breathing, may be less relevant. 2012 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.
---	---

Contents

Introduction	254
Materials and methods	254
Study design	254
Search strategy	255
Selection criteria	255

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +61 2 46203835; fax: +61 2 46203792. *E-mail address:* c.wells@uws.edu.au (C. Wells).

0965-2299/\$ — see front matter @ 2012 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.ctim.2012.02.005

Data extraction	255 255
Results	256
Search results	256
Different methodological designs of included papers	256
Content categories in the definition of Pilates exercise	256
Content category frequency	256
Healthy versus low back pain participants	257
Equipment recommendation for Pilates exercise	257
Traditional Pilates principles used in definition of Pilates exercise	258
Discussion	258
Conclusion	259
Acknowledgement	259
References	259

Introduction

Chronic low back pain (CLBP) is a common and disabling condition, with costly implications for society.^{1,2} Several forms of exercise have been reported to reduce pain and disability in people with CLBP.^{3,4} One such exercise is Pilates, a mind—body exercise approach that can be considered a Complementary and Alternative Medicine (CAM) therapy.^{5,6} How Pilates exercise is defined, and applied in the treatment of people with CLBP, however, seems to vary in the literature.^{7,8} This makes it difficult to interpret research findings appropriately, and conduct valid research into its efficacy.

Pilates exercise was founded by Joseph Pilates during the 1920s.^{9,10} An emphasis is placed on control of body position and movement, as suggested by its original name "Contrology".¹¹ Exercises are floor-based, or involve the use of specialised equipment which provide adjustable spring resistance.^{10,11} Traditional principles of Pilates exercise include centering, concentration, control, precision, flow, and breathing.⁷ These principles are defined in Table 1.

Over the past decade, Pilates has changed from being exclusively used by dancers, to becoming popular in the mainstream exercise arena, and in injury rehabilitation.^{10,14} Pilates is frequently prescribed to people with low back pain due to its focus on activating stabilising muscles of the trunk and lower back.^{5,11} These muscles have been shown to be inhibited in people with low back pain.^{15–19} Pilates exercise, therefore, is theorised to assist in the re-activation of these muscles, and by so doing, increase the support of the lower back, and reduce pain and disability.⁵

Pilates exercise has diversified with the extension of its use in different contexts. Changes relate to the modification of exercises to suit different client needs and abilities, and updating of traditional techniques to align with evidencebased principles.^{7,8,11} The removal of trademark restrictions on the use of the term ''Pilates'' has also led to widespread variation.²⁰ Despite literature reporting variation of Pilates exercise, there is no published research that has investigated how Pilates exercise is defined in literature or clinical practice.

The aim of this systematic review is to identify peer-reviewed, published literature that describes Pilates exercise, and to synthesise definitions, use of specialised equipment, and report of traditional principles. This will help determine if there is any difference between original descriptions provided by Joseph Pilates, and current understanding of Pilates exercise. The definition of Pilates exercise will be further explored in papers with low back pain participants, and compared to papers with healthy participants. This will provide a basis for understanding how definitions may vary in health promotion, versus rehabilitation contexts.

Materials and methods

Study design

A systematic review was undertaken to define Pilates exercise according to the literature. This review adheres to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines.²¹ Nine databases were used to conduct the search: Cochrane Library, Medline, Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL), Physiotherapy Evidence Database (PEDro), Pro-Quest: Medical and Health Complete, Proquest: Nursing and Allied Health Source, Scopus, Sport Discus and Web of

Table 1 Traditional	Pilates principles.
Traditional principle	Definition
1. Centering	Tightening of the muscular centre of the body or ''powerhouse'', located between the pelvic floor and the ribcage during exercises ^{12,13}
2. Concentration	Cognitive attention required to perform exercise ⁷
3. Control	Close management of posture and movement during exercise ⁷
4. Precision	Accuracy of exercise technique ⁷
5. Flow	Smooth transition of movements within the exercise sequence ⁷
6. Breathing	Moving air into and out of lungs in coordination with exercise ⁷

Science. Both medical and exercise science databases were chosen to access as many relevant articles as possible.

Search strategy

Development of the search strategy was conducted using the Scopus database. A search for the word 'pilates' within the title, abstract, or keyword field was undertaken from the date of database inception until April 13, 2011. Expanding the search to include 'exercise', 'motor control', and 'core stability' did not increase the number of relevant papers sourced. A similar protocol was repeated in the other databases (Table 2). Limits were applied to database searching to identify papers published in English in peer-reviewed journals. The title, abstract, and as required, the full text of papers was examined to determine suitability of inclusion against selection criteria. Once papers were included, their reference lists were searched for relevant papers that had not been previously been identified.

Selection criteria

To be included in this systematic review, papers needed to describe Pilates exercise, and be published in the English language in a peer-reviewed journal. A peer-reviewed journal was defined as a scholarly, academic, and refereed journal indexed within Ulrich's periodical directory.²² The Ulrich's periodical directory is commonly used to categorise types of journals, and provides a conservative estimate of peer-review status.²³ Using the Ulrich's directory to identify journals that were peer-reviewed helped to ensure papers were not overlooked.

Types of papers that could be included in this systematic review were systematic and narrative reviews, randomised and case control trials, case series and case reports, crosssectional descriptive studies, abstracts and opinion articles. Papers were not critically analysed for their methodological quality as the aim of this systematic review was to collate and synthesise information on the definition of Pilates exercise. Opinion articles, then, were considered to be valid sources of information in exploring different interpretations and perspectives.

Data extraction

The following information was extracted:

- Author and year of publication
- Methodological design
- Definition of Pilates exercise
- Study sample, where applicable
- Use of mat and/or specialised Pilates equipment
- Which, if any, traditional Pilates principles were discussed, or used

Data analyses

Content analysis^{24,25} was used to identify and record definitions of Pilates exercise in the literature. Content categories were identified based on recurring themes related to the description of Pilates exercise in included papers. If greater than 25% of papers mentioned a feature of Pilates exercise, it was included as a content category. Content categories were then further defined, and alternative key words or phrases identified, to enable consistent recognition in the literature (Table 3). Papers were reviewed twice within two weeks by one reviewer to cross-check categorisation of information, and ensure appropriate thematic analysis.

Whilst some content categories were relatively easy to define, such as breathing, flexibility, and posture, others required more explanation. To identify the content category of 'core stability', papers needed to mention the activation of deep, stabilising trunk muscles to support the lumbar spine and pelvis.^{27,28} For 'strength', papers needed to mention this term specifically, rather than endurance. This is because different muscle fibres are recruited with strength training, that is, fast twitch, fatiguing fibres as opposed to slow, twitch enduring fibres.^{32–34} The category of 'muscle control' was identified if papers commented on the need for segmental control of spinal motion with or without combination with limb movement.^{29,30} This helped differentiate this category from 'mind-body connection' by explicitly detailing the type of control required. The 'mind-body connection' category was identified if authors of papers proposed Pilates exercise involved the mind controlling the body's movement and position.¹⁰

In addition to content analysis of the definition of Pilates in the literature, frequency of mention of specialised Pilates equipment and traditional Pilates principles was recorded. Specialised Pilates equipment included any, or several of the following: the Reformer, Trapeze Table or Cadillac, Ladder Barrel, and Wunda Chair.¹⁰ Common therapeutic and gym equipment, such as medicine balls or resistive tubing, were not considered to be specialised Pilates equipment. Traditional Pilates principles included centering, concentration, control, precision, flow, or breathing.⁷ Papers needed to specifically list these principles for this to be noted (Table 1).

Descriptive statistics were then used to summarise the frequency of:

- Different methodological study designs.
- Content categories used in the definition of Pilates exercise, that is, breathing, core stability, flexibility, muscle control, mind-body connection, posture and strength (Table 3).
- Report of specialised Pilates equipment, such as the Reformer, Trapeze Table or Cadillac, Ladder Barrel, and Wunda Chair.¹⁰
- Mention of traditional Pilates principles including centering, concentration, control, precision, flow, or breathing.⁷

The proportion of papers with healthy participants versus papers with low back pain was also calculated. Healthy participants were defined as people of any age, gender or sporting ability but without a diagnosed medical condition or injury. Participants with low back pain needed to be part of the research study in the paper, or else a major focus of discussion in the opinion paper.

Frequencies of mention of content categories, traditional Pilates principles, and specialised equipment were then compared across papers with healthy versus low back pain

Database	Date range	Fields
Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL)	1970–2011	Title or abstract or word in subject heading
Cochrane Library	1800-2011	Full text
Medline	1928-2011	Title or abstract or keyword
Physiotherapy Evidence Database (PEDro)	1928–2011	Abstract and title
Proquest (Health and Medical Complete)	1928–2011	Citation and abstract
Proquest (Nursing and Allied Health Source)	1928–2011	Citation and abstract
Scopus	1960-2011	Title, abstract, or keywords
Sport Discus	1975-2011	Title or abstract or keywords
Web of Science	1977–2011	Topic or title

Table 2 Search strategy: database, date range, fields using search term "Pilates".

participants. A Pearson's Chi-Square test was used to calculate statistical differences in frequencies. When frequencies were less than 5, a Fisher's exact test was used. The level of significance was set at 0.05.

Results

Search results

A total of 2182 papers were identified using the search strategy. Of these, 119 papers fulfilled the selection criteria. Most papers were excluded due to not being published in peer-reviewed journals (Fig. 1).

Different methodological designs of included papers

The majority of the included papers were opinion pieces (n = 54).^{7,8,10-14,34-80} The remainder of the papers were case series $(n = 17)^{81-97}$, randomised controlled trials (n = 13),⁹⁸⁻¹¹⁰ case controlled trials (n = 12),¹¹¹⁻¹²²

cross-sectional descriptive studies (n = 11), ¹²³⁻¹³³ case studies $(n = 7)^{134-140}$, and systematic reviews (n = 5).^{5,141-144}

Content categories in the definition of Pilates exercise

Content categories frequently identified in the definition of Pilates exercise included breathing, core stability, flexibility, muscle control, mind—body connection, posture and strength. These have been defined in Table 3.

Content category frequency

The most frequently mentioned content categories in descending order were strength (76%), core stability (69%), flexibility (62%), posture (60%), muscle control (49%), breathing (49%), and mind—body connection (46%). Examples of other components mentioned in the definition of Pilates exercise, but less frequently, included balance, proprioception, endurance and coordination. For references of papers that identified these content categories, please see Appendix A.

 Table 3
 Definition and associated words/phrases of content categories.

Content category	Associated words/phrases	Definition
Breathing	Breath, breathing, respiration	Process of moving air into and out of lungs ²⁶
Core stability	Core stability, core control, core strength	Activation of deep trunk muscles that stabilise lumbar spine and pelvis ^{27,28}
Flexibility	Stretching, full range of movement	Ability of joints to move through full range of movement ²⁶
Muscle control	Muscle control, movement control, motor control, segmental control	Isolated, segmental movement of the spine and coordination with limb movement 29,30
Mind-body connection	Mind-body exercise, contrology ^a	Control of the physical body by the mind ¹⁰
Posture	Posture, alignment, positioning	Relative positioning of body parts at a given time ³¹
Strength	Strength, strengthening (not endurance)	Ability of muscle to produce or resist a physical force ²⁶

^a Original name for Pilates exercise.¹¹



Figure 1 Results of literature search.

Supplementary Appendix A related to this article found, in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.ctim.2012.02.005.

Healthy versus low back pain participants

In 41% of papers (n = 49), participants were healthy, whilst in 14% of papers (n = 17), participants had low back pain. The remainder of the included papers (n = 53) focused on people with other pathologies, or did not consider the application of Pilates exercise to any particular group of people. When comparing frequencies of mention of content categories in papers with healthy versus low back pain participants, there was no statistically significance difference for strength,

core stability, flexibility, muscle control, breathing, and mind—body connection. There was, however, a statistically significant difference related to posture ($\chi^2 = 5.051$, p = 0.047). A higher proportion (76%) of papers with low back pain participants suggested posture was important in Pilates exercise compared to papers with healthy participants (45%) (Table 4).

Equipment recommendation for Pilates exercise

Thirty-eight percent of all papers included in this study (n=45) reported floor-based Pilates exercise and the use of specialised equipment. Twenty-five percent of papers

Content category	Frequency of papers with healthy participants [%]	Frequency of papers with participants with low back pain [%]	Pearson Chi-Square $[\chi^2 (p \text{ value})]$
Mind-body connection	29	35	$\chi^2 = 0.270 \ (p = 0.603)$
Breathing	45	47	$\chi^2 = 0.024 \ (p = 0.877)$
Muscle control	41	59	$\chi^2 = 1.651 \ (p = 0.199)$
Posture ^a	45	76	$\chi^2 = 5.051 \ (p = 0.047)$
Flexibility	64	60	$\chi^2 = 0.229 \ (p = 0.632)$
Core stability	71	88	$\chi^2 = 1.941 \ (p = 0.205)$
Strength	76	59	$\chi^2 = 1.714 \ (p = 0.190)$

Table 4 Frequency of content categories in papers with healthy participants and participants with low back pain

(*n* = 30) did not specify equipment or exercises. The remainder of the papers suggested the use of either floor-based exercise (28%, *n* = 33), or the use of specialised equipment (9%, *n* = 11) (Appendix B). There was no significant difference in the frequency of recommendations of use of mat (χ^2 = 0.309, *p* = 0.759) or specialised equipment (χ^2 = 0.015, *p* = 0.904) in papers with healthy versus low back pain participants.

Supplementary Appendix B related to this article found, in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.ctim.2012.02.005.

Traditional Pilates principles used in definition of Pilates exercise

The most frequently reported traditional principles of Pilates exercise across all papers were breathing (49%), centering (19%), control (19%), precision (18%), flow (18%), and concentration (18%) (Appendix C). Breathing was also classified as a content category. Apart from breathing, none of the papers investigating Pilates exercise with low back pain participants quoted, or reported using, traditional principles.

Supplementary Appendix C related to this article found, in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.ctim.2012.02.005.

Discussion

According to this review, Pilates is a mind—body exercise that requires core stability, strength, and flexibility, and attention to muscle control, posture, and breathing. Exercises can be mat-based, or involve the use of specialised equipment. Traditional Pilates principles of centering, concentration, control, precision, flow, and breathing may be relevant to contemporary Pilates exercise. In people with low back pain, posture may be a critical component of Pilates exercise, but traditional principles, apart from breathing, may be less important.

This systematic review is the first of its kind to describe Pilates exercise according to peer-reviewed literature, and compare definitions used in papers with healthy versus low back pain participants. The design of this review helped ensure relevant, but detailed information on Pilates was obtained from a variety of sources. A systematic review methodology limited bias in the selection of evidence.^{145–147} Comprehensive searching of papers indexed in both medical and sport databases meant that relevant papers were unlikely to have been overlooked. Inclusion of papers with different methodologies contributed to a broad understanding of Pilates as described in the literature.

Content analysis was used to systematically identify and synthesise recurring themes within definitions of Pilates.^{24,25} Though only one reviewer extracted and synthesised information, categorisation of information was checked twice to ensure appropriate analysis. A limitation of this systematic review is the assumption that frequency of mention of content categories, equipment use, and traditional principles equated to their importance in defining Pilates exercise.

The findings of this systematic review also must be viewed in light of the fact that that none of the included papers aimed to define Pilates, and the majority of included papers were opinion articles (45%). Definitions of Pilates given in the literature, then, may have been over-simplified, or biased. This is particularly true in relation to opinion articles, as publication in peer-reviewed journals does not guarantee peer-revision for these types of papers. Despite this, papers that did not aim to define Pilates, or were opinion articles, were included in this review due to limited availability of relevant research.

Furthermore, it should be recognised that there was only a small number of papers that focused on Pilates in relation to participants with low back pain (n = 17) compared to papers with healthy participants (n = 49). This may have influenced the comparative analyses of the definition of Pilates exercise in these papers, however, statistical analyses using a Fisher's exact test assisted in minimising bias. The definition of Pilates provided by this review may be used by clinicians and policy-makers to identify and evaluate Pilates exercise programmes. This review also has highlighted the potential importance of different features of Pilates exercise, particularly in relation to people with low back pain. Posture was mentioned more frequently as part of Pilates exercise in papers with low back pain participants, versus papers with healthy participants. This could mean that posture is more important for people with low back pain when performing Pilates exercise than in people without low back pain. Recent studies have reported that lumbo-pelvic posture can affect the activation of deep, stabilising trunk muscles such as transverses abdominis and multifidus.^{148,149} These muscles are inhibited in people with low back pain, and therefore may require additional postural facilitation to be recruited with Pilates exercise.^{15–19}

This review has been unable to provide detail on the interpretation of features of Pilates exercise across different contexts due to lack of relevant research. Different interpretations of the components of Pilates, however, may result in variable exercise techniques. For example, the principle of ''centering'' requires the 'imprint' action or pulling of the navel towards the spine. Traditionally in Pilates, this ''imprint'' action involves co-contraction of all the abdominal and buttock muscles, and tilting of the pelvis in a posterior direction to 'straighten' the spine.⁸ When Pilates is used to treat people with low back pain, however, emphasis may be placed on holding a ''neutral'' spine position, where the natural curves of the spine are maintained.⁸ Focus also may be placed on primary activation of deep abdominal and back muscles, such as transverses abdominis and multifidus, over superficial trunk musculature.^{8,29}

A greater proportion of papers in this review suggested Pilates exercise is floor-based, rather than involving the use of specialised equipment. This finding, however, could relate to the expense, or size, of specialised Pilates equipment, and the relative ease of conducting floor-based exercise. In people with low back pain, specialised equipment has been reported to be beneficial as spring resistance can be adjusted to individual ability, and provide greater proprioceptive feedback during Pilates exercise.⁷ Further investigation then, on the benefits and barriers of using specialised Pilates equipment is required.

Traditional Pilates principles of centering, concentration, control, precision, and flow were reported in 18-21% of all papers. This may indicate these principles are less important in defining Pilates, compared to content categories that were mentioned in 46-69% of papers. Only breathing, which was a traditional Pilates principle, and content category, was mentioned in papers with low back pain participants. This may suggest that traditional principles, apart from breathing, are less critical than previously reported, particularly in people with low back pain.

Prior to this systematic review, no research has been undertaken to specifically examine the definition or application of Pilates exercise. Whilst this review has provided a definition of Pilates exercise according to current literature, these findings need to be validated with clinical research. The relative importance and interpretation of features of Pilates identified in this review also need to be explored in clinical practice with both healthy and low back pain participants. This may provide further direction regarding Pilates exercise technique and prescription in health promotion versus rehabilitation contexts. Finally, the benefits, and barriers, of using specialised equipment with Pilates exercise should be investigated, along with the relevance of traditional principles in contemporary Pilates exercise across different contexts.

Conclusion

The findings of this systematic review indicate that Pilates is a mind—body exercise approach requiring core stability, strength, and flexibility, and attention to muscle control, posture, and breathing. Exercises may be floor-based, but also include use of specialised equipment. In papers with low back pain participants, posture was mentioned more frequently than in papers with healthy participants. Traditional principles, apart from breathing, were not mentioned in papers with low back pain participants. This may imply that posture is an important feature of Pilates for people with chronic low back pain, whilst traditional principles may be less relevant. The clinical validity of these findings needs to be confirmed with further research exploring the principles and techniques used in both healthy participants, and in people with low back pain.

Acknowledgement

Dr Paul Marshall is to be acknowledged for advice and review of draft article.

References

- 1. Hoy D, March L, Brooks P, Woolf A, Blyth F, Vos T, et al. Measuring the global burden of low back pain. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheum* 2010;24:155-65.
- Hayden J, Dunn K, van der Windt D, Shaw W. What is the prognosis of back pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheum 2010;24:167–79.
- 3. Hayden JA, van Tulder MW, Tomlinson G. Systematic review: strategies for using exercise therapy to improve outcomes in chronic low back pain. *Ann Int Med* 2005;142:776–85.
- Van Middelkoop M, Rubinstein SM, Verhagen AP, Ostelo RW, Koes BW, van Tulder MW. Exercise therapy for chronic nonspecific low-back pain. *Clin Rheum* 2010;24:193–204 [Bottom of form].
- 5. La Touche R, Escalante K, Linares MT. Treating non-specific chronic low back pain through the Pilates method. *J Bodyw Mov Ther* 2008;**12**:364–70.
- National Center for Complementary and Alternative Medicine. CAM definition; 2010. Retrieved April 1, 2011 from: http://nccam.nih.gov/health/whatiscam/#l.
- 7. Latey P. Updating the principles of the Pilates method part 2. J Bodyw Mov Ther 2002;6:94–101.
- Owsley A. An introduction to clinical Pilates. Athlet Ther Today 2005;10:19–25.
- 9. Friedman P, Eisen G. *The Pilates method of physical and mental conditioning*. 10th edn. London: Penguin Books; 2005.
- Latey P. The Pilates method: history and philosophy. J Bodyw Mov Ther 2001;5:275–82.
- 11. Anderson BD, Spector A. Introduction to Pilates-based rehabilitation. Orthop Phys Ther Clin N Am 2000;9:395–410.
- 12. Muscolino JE, Cipriani S. Pilates and the powerhouse I. J Bodyw Mov Ther 2004;8:15–24.
- Muscolino JE, Cipriani S. Pilates and the powerhouse II. J Bodyw Mov Ther 2004;8:122–30.
- Bryan M, Hawson S. The benefits of Pilates exercise in orthopaedic rehabilitation. *Tech Orthop* 2003;18:126–9.
- Ferreira PH, Ferreira ML, Maher CG, Refshauge K, Herbert R, Hodges PW. Changes in recruitment of transversus abdominis correlate with disability in people with chronic low back pain. *Br J Sports Med* 2010;44:1166–72.
- Hides J, Stokes M, Saide M, Jull GA, Cooper DH. Evidence of lumbar multifidus muscle wasting ipsilateral to symptoms in patients with acute/subacute low back pain. Spine 1994;19:165–72.
- 17. Hodges PW, Richardson CA. Inefficient muscular stabilization of the lumbar spine associated with low back pain. *Spine* 1996;**21**:2640–50.
- Wallwork T, Stanton W, Freke M, Hides J. The effect of chronic low back pain on size and contraction of the lumbar multifidus muscle. *Man Ther* 2009;14:496–500.
- O'Sullivan P, Twomey L, Allison G, Sinclair J, Miller K. Altered patterns of abdominal muscle activation in patients with chronic back pain. *Aust J Physiother* 1997;43:91–8.

- Brown SE. Pilates: where are we now. J Dance Med Sci 2002;6:108–9.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, The PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *Ann Intern Med* 2009;151:264–9.
- Serial Solutions Ulrich's Web Global Serials Directory. Proquest 2010. Retrieved January 15, 2011 from: http://www.ulrichsweb.com/ulrichsweb/.
- Bachand RG, Sawallis PP. Accuracy in the identification of scholarly and peer-reviewed journals and the peer-review process across disciplines. Serials Librarian 2003;45:39–59.
- Krippendorff K. Content analysis: an introduction to its methodology. 2nd edn. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications; 2004.
- Stemler S. An overview of content analysis. *Pract Assess Res Eval* 2011;7(17). Retrieved January 7, 2011 from: http://PAREonline.net/getvn.asp?v=7&n=17.
- Anderson D, Keith J, Novak P, Elliot M. Mosby's medical nursing and allied health dictionary. 6th edn. St Louis: Mosby, Elsevier; 2002.
- 27. Hodges PW. Core stability exercise in chronic low back pain. Orthop Clin N Am 2003;34:245-54.
- Trentman C. Core stability: Pilates is another important tool in a therapist's professional repertoire. Advance for Directors in Rehabilitation 2003;12:51.
- Costa L, Maher C, Latimer J, Hodges PW, Herbert RD, Refshauge KM, et al. Motor control exercise for chronic low back pain: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. *Phys Ther* 2009;89:1275–86.
- Ferriera ML, Ferriera PH, Latimer J, Herbert RD, Hodges PW, Jennings MD, et al. Comparison of general exercise, motor control exercise and spinal manipulative therapy for chronic low back pain: a randomized trial. *Pain* 2007;131:31–7.
- Kendall F, McCreary E, Provance P, Rodgers M, Romani W. Muscles: testing and function with posture and pain. 5th edn. Baltimore: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2005.
- Comerford M, Mottram S. Functional stability re-training: principles and strategies for managing mechanical dysfunction. Man Ther 2001;6:3–14.
- Mottram SL, Comerford MJ. A new perspective in risk assessment. Phys Ther Sport 2008;9:40–51.
- McNeill W. Decision making in Pilates. J Bodyw Mov Ther 2011;15:103–7.
- Smith K, Smith E. Integrating Pilates-based core strengthening into older adult fitness programs implications for practice. *Top Geriatr Rehabil* 2005;21:57–67.
- 36. Ahearn EL. The Pilates method and ballet technique: applications in the dance studio. *J Dance Educ* 2006;6:92–9.
- Anonymous. Pilates promise prevention of neck and shoulder disorders. J Musculoskelet Med 2009;26:494.
- Anonymous. Yoga rules, Pilates evidence. J Complement Med 2008;7:8.
- 39. Anonymous. Fitness trends surveyed. JOPERD 2005;76:15.
- Anonymous. Activity levels for youths/obesity death toll/walkable neighborhoods/Pilates' benefits. JOPERD 2005;76:3.
- 41. Anonymous. What is the Pilates method? *Athl Ther Today* 2002;**7**:9.
- 42. Anonymous. Clinical Pilates offers hope for lower back pain. Aust Nurs J 2001;8:37.
- Atkinson HDE, Laver JM, Sharp E. (vi) Physiotherapy and rehabilitation following soft-tissue surgery of the knee. Orthop Trauma 2010;24:129–38.
- Balogh A. Pilates and pregnancy. RCM Midwives 2005;8: 220-2.
- 45. Brown SE. Pilates man or method. J Dance Med Sci 1999;3:137-8.

- 46. Cook J. Jumping on bandwagons: taking the right clinical message from research. Br J Sports Med 2008;42:563.
- 47. Cozen DM. Use of Pilates in foot and ankle rehabilitation. Sports Med Arthrosc 2000;8:395–403.
- 48. Duschatko DM. Certified Pilates and gyrotonics trainer. *J Bodyw Mov Ther* 2000;4:13–9.
- 49. Edwards SD. Breath psychology: fundamentals and applications. *Psychol Dev Soc J* 2008;20:131–64.
- Friedberg MW. Outcomes research in review. Pilot study suggests temporary efficacy of Pilates for treating fibromyalgia. J Clin Outcomes Manag 2010; 17:348–9.
- 51. lves J, Sosnoff J. Beyond the mind-body exercise hype. *Phys Sportsmed* 2000;**28**:67–81.
- 52. Khan K, Brown J, Way S, Vass N, Crichton K, Alexander R, et al. Overuse injuries in classical ballet. *Sports Med* 1995;**19**:341–57.
- 53. Kloubec J, Banks A. Pilates and physical education: a natural fit. *JOPERD* 2004;**75**:34.
- 54. LaBrusciano G, Lonergan S. Pilates: a method ahead of its time. Strength Cond J 1996;18:74–5.
- Lange C, Unnithan VB, Larkam E, Latta PM. Maximizing the benefits of Pilates-inspired exercise for learning functional motor skills. J Bodyw Mov Ther 2000;4:99–108.
- Levine B, Kaplanek B, Scafura D, Jaffe WL. Rehabilitation after total hip and knee arthroplasty. *Bull NYU Hosp Jt Dis* 2007;65:120-5.
- 57. Loosli AR, Herold D. Knee rehabilitation for dancers using a Pilates-based technique. *Kinesiol Med Dance* 1993;14:1–12.
- Markula P. Tuning into one's self: Foucault's technologies of the self and mindful fitness. Social Sport J 2004;21: 302-21.
- 59. Markula P. Deleuze and the body without organs: disreading the fit feminine identity. J Sport Soc Issues 2006;30:29–44.
- 60. Miller C. Dance medicine: current concepts. *Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am* 2006;**17**:803–11.
- 61. Pajek MB, Pajek J. Low back pain and the possible role of Pilates in artistic gymnastics. *Science of Gymnastics Journal* 2009;1:55–61.
- 62. Parrott AA. The effects of Pilates technique and aerobic conditioning on dancers' technique and aesthetic. *Kinesiol Med Dance* 1993;15:45–64.
- 63. Parker SS. The core of ergonomic practice. *Dimens Dent Hyg* 2010;8:36–7.
- 64. Parker SS. The Pilates approach to back pain: simple exercises can help dental professionals prevent and treat back pain. *Dimens Dent Hyg* 2010;**8**:52–3.
- 65. Parker SS. Improve your posture: final instalment of a threepart series. *Dimens Dent Hyg* 2010;8:56.
- Phillips C. Clinical Pilates in the management of groin injuries. J Sci Med Sport 1999;2(1 Suppl.):101 [Abstract].
- Rainville J, Nguyen R, Suri P. Effective conservative treatment for chronic low back pain. Semin Spine Surg 2009;21: 257–63.
- 68. Reyneke D. The Pilates method of exercise and rehabilitation. *Physiother Sport* 1993;**XVIII**:19.
- 69. Robinson L. Pilates in pregnancy: the body control method. *Pract Midwife* 2007;10:24–6.
- 70. Shand D. Pilates to pit. Lancet 2004;363:1340.
- 71. Shedden M, Kravitz L. Pilates: a corrective system of exercise. ACSM's Health Fitness J 2007;11:7–12.
- Shedden M, Kravitz L. Pilates exercise. J Dance Med Sci 2004;10:111–6.
- 73. Sorosky S, Stilp S, Akuthota V. Yoga and Pilates in the management of low back pain. *Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med* 2008;1:39-47.
- 74. Stanko E. The role of modified Pilates in women's health physiotherapy. *Journal of the Association of Chartered Physiotherapists in Women's Health* 2002;**90**:21–32.

- 75. Stolarsky L. The Pilates method in physical therapy of the dancer. *Orthop Pract* 1993;5:8–10.
- 76. Stone JA. The Pilates method. Athlet Ther Today 2000;5:56.
- 77. Swann J. The power of Pilates. Nursing and Residential Care 2009;11:520-3.
- 78. Thompson WR. Worldwide survey reveals fitness trends for 2008. ACSM's Health Fitness J 2007;11:7–13.
- 79. Thompson WR. Worldwide survey reveals fitness trends for 2009. ACSM's Health Fitness J 2008;12:7–14.
- Thompson WR. Worldwide survey reveals fitness trends for 2010. ACSM's Health Fitness J 2009;13:9–16.
- Caldwell K, Harrison M, Adams M, Quin RH, Gresson J. Developing mindfulness in college students through movement-based courses: effects on self-regulatory self-efficacy, mood, stress, and sleep quality. J Am Coll Health 2010;58:433–42.
- English RA, Banton AC, Howe K, Jones CP. Trunk strength and throwing velocity: the Pilates method of exercise and baseball conditioning. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 2004;34:A48–50 [Abstract].
- Hutchinson MR, Tremain L, Christiansen J, Beitzel J. Improving leaping ability in elite rhythmic gymnasts. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1998;30:1543–7.
- Kaesler DS, Mellifont RB, Kelly PS, Taaffe DR. A novel balance exercise program for postural stability in older adults: a pilot study. J Bodyw Mov Ther 2007;11:37–43.
- Keays K, Harris S, Lucyshyn J, MacIntyre D. Effects of Pilates exercises on shoulder range of motion, pain, mood, and upperextremity function in women living with breast cancer: a pilot study. *Phys Ther* 2008;88:494.
- Korkmaz N. Effects of Pilates exercises on the social physical concern of patients with Fibromyalgia syndrome: a pilot study. *Turkish J Rheumatol* 2010;25:201-7.
- Kuo YL, Tully EA, Galea MP. Sagittal spinal posture after Pilates-based exercise in healthy older adults. Spine 2009;34:1046–51.
- Levine B, Kaplanek B, Jaffe WL. Pilates training for use in rehabilitation after total hip and knee arthroplasty: a preliminary report. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2009;467:1468–75.
- Lim CWE, Chen YC, Lim HWW, Quek MTJ. A retrospective evaluation of isotonic strengthening with clinical Pilates exercises on patients with chronic low back pain. *Physiotherapy* (Singapore) 2008;11:5–12.
- Lynch JA, Chalmers GR, Knutzen KM, Martin LT. Effect on performance of learning a Pilates skill with or without a mirror. J Bodyw Mov Ther 2009;13:283–90.
- Mallery LH, MacDonald EA, Hubley-Kozey CL, Earl ME, Rockwood K, MacKnight C. The feasibility of performing resistance exercise with acutely ill hospitalized older adults. *BMC Geriatr* 2003;3:1–18.
- McMillan A, Proteau L, Lèbe R. The effect of Pilates-based training on dancers' dynamic posture. J Dance Med Sci 1998;2:101-7.
- Rogers K, Gibson A. Eight-week traditional mat Pilates trainingprogram effects on adult fitness characteristics. *Res Q Exer Sport* 2009;80:569.
- Segal NA, Hein J, Basford JR. The effects of Pilates training on flexibility and body composition: an observational study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2004;85:1977–81.
- Sekendiz B, Altun Ö, Korkusuz F, Akin S. Effects of Pilates exercise on trunk strength, endurance and flexibility in sedentary adult females. J Bodyw Mov Ther 2007;11:318–26.
- Yakut E, Vardar N, Kalyoncu U, Marap Y, Akdooan A, Kiraz S, et al. The effect of Pilates exercises in patients with osteoarthritis: a pilot study. Ann Rheum Dis 2005;64: 585–6.
- Yakut E, Yagli NV, Kiraz S, Akdogan A, Calguneri M, Yakut Y, et al. The effects of Pilates exercises on patients with ankylosing spondylitis. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2006;65:675–6.

- Altan L, Korkmaz N, Bingol Ü, Gunay B. Effect of Pilates training on people with Fibromyalgia syndrome: a pilot study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2009;90:1983–8.
- 99. Critchley DJ, Pierson Z, Battersby G. Effect of Pilates mat exercises and conventional exercise programmes on transversus abdominis and obliquus internus abdominis activity: pilot randomised trial. *Man Ther* 2011;**16**:183–9.
- 100. Culligan PJ, Scherer J, Dyer K, Priestley JL, Guingon-White G, Delvecchio D, et al. A randomized clinical trial comparing pelvic floor muscle training to a Pilates exercise program for improving pelvic muscle strength. *Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct* 2010;21:401–8.
- De Siqueira Rodrigues BG. Pilates method in personal autonomy, static balance and quality of life of elderly females. J Bodyw Mov Ther 2010;14:195–202.
- Emery K, De Serres SJ, McMillan A, Côté JN. The effects of a Pilates training program on arm-trunk posture and movement. *Clin Biomech* 2010;25:124–30.
- 103. Eyigor S, Karapolat H, Yesil H, Uslu R, Durmaz B. Effects of Pilates exercises on functional capacity, flexibility, fatigue, depression and quality of life in female breast cancer patients: a randomized controlled study. *Eur J Phys Rehabil Med* 2010;**46**:481–7.
- 104. Gladwell V, Head S, Haggar M, Beneke R. Does a program of Pilates improve chronic non-specific low back pain. J Sport Rehabil 2006;15:338–50.
- 105. Jago R, Jonker ML, Missaghian M, Baranowski T. Effect of 4 weeks of Pilates on the body composition of young girls. *Prev Med* 2006;42:177–80.
- Johnson EG, Larsen A, Ozawa H, Wilson CA, Kennedy KL. The effects of Pilates-based exercise on dynamic balance in healthy adults. J Bodyw Mov Ther 2007;11:238–42.
- 107. Kloubec JA. Pilates for improvement of muscle endurance, flexibility, balance, and posture. J Strength Cond Res 2010;24:661–7.
- 108. Rydeard R, Leger A, Smith D. Pilates-based therapeutic exercise: effect on subjects with nonspecific chronic low back pain and functional disability: a randomized controlled trial. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 2006;36: 472–84.
- 109. Savage AM. Is lumbopelvic stability training (using the Pilates model) an effective treatment strategy for women with stress urinary incontinence? A review of the literature and report of a pilot study. *Journal of the Association of Chartered Physiotherapists in Women's Health* 2005;**97**: 33–48.
- SeQueira E, Cornell P, Richards S. Modified Pilates exercises for low back pain: do they help? *Rheumatology* 2010;49(Suppl. 1):125i.
- 111. Caldwell K, Harrison M, Adams M, Triplett NT. Effect of Pilates and taiji quan training on self-efficacy, sleep quality, mood, and physical performance of college students. *J Bodyw Mov Ther* 2009;13:155–63.
- 112. da Fonseca JL, Magini M, de Freitas TH. Laboratory gait analysis in patients with low back pain before and after a Pilates intervention. *J Sport Rehabil* 2009;18:269–82.
- 113. Donahoe-Fillmore B, Hanahan NM, Mescher ML, Clapp DE, Addison NR, Weston CR. The effects of a home Pilates program on muscle performance and posture in healthy females: a pilot study. J Women's Health Phys Ther 2007;31:6–11.
- 114. Donzelli S, Di Domenica E, Cova AM, Galletti R, Giunta N. Two different techniques in the rehabilitation treatment of low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. *Eura Medicophys* 2006;**42**:205–10.
- 115. Fitt S, Sturman J, McClain-Smith S. Effects of Pilates-based conditioning on strength, alignment, and range of motion in university ballet and modern dance majors. *Kinesiol Med Dance* 1993;16:36–51.

- 116. Herrington L, Davies R. The influence of Pilates training on the ability to contract the transversus abdominis muscle in asymptomatic individuals. *J Bodyw Mov Ther* 2005;**9**:52–7.
- 117. Khan RS, Marlow C, Head A. Physiological and psychological responses to a 12-week body balance training programme. J Sci Med in Sport 2008;11:299–307.
- Otto R, Yoke M, McLaughlin K, Morrill J, Viola A, Lail A, et al. The effect of twelve weeks of Pilates vs resistance training on trained females. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2004;36:2410.
- 119. Rajpal N, Arora M, Chauhan V. A study on efficacy of Pilates & Pilates & Mckenzie exercises in postural low back pain – a rehabilitative protocol. *Physiother Occup Ther J* 2008;1:33–56.
- 120. Sewright K, Martens DN, Axtell RS, Rinehardt KF. Effects of six weeks of Pilates mat training on tennis serve velocity, muscular endurance, and their relationship in collegiate tennis players. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2004;**36**:1139.
- 121. Irez GB, Ozdemir RA, Evin R, Irez SG, Korkusuz F. Integrating Pilates exercise into an exercise program for 65+ year-old women to reduce falls. *J Sports Sci Med* 2011;10: 105–11.
- 122. Wu HY, Chiang IT. The effects of a chair-based Pilates intervention on postural balance in young-old adults. *J Aging Phys Act* 2008;**16**:S70–1.
- 123. Brennan S, French H. A questionnaire survey of the knowledge and use of Pilates based exercise for chronic low back pain amongst Irish physiotherapists. Rehabilitation and therapy research society fourth annual conference. *Phys Ther Rev* 2008;13:212–3.
- 124. Endleman I, Critchley DJ. Transversus abdominis and obliquus internus activity during Pilates exercises: measurement with ultrasound scanning. *Arch Phys Med and Rehabil* 2008;**89**:2205–12.
- McGrath JA, O'Malley M, Hendrix TJ. Group exercise mode and health-related quality of life among healthy adults. J Adv Nurs 2011;67:491–500.
- 126. Menacho MO, Obara K, Conceição JS, Chitolina ML, Krantz DR, Da Silva RA, et al. Electromyographic effect of mat Pilates exercise on the back muscle activity of healthy adult females. J Manipulative Physiol Ther 2010;33:672-8.
- 127. Neumark-Sztainer D, Eisenberg ME, Wall M, Yoga Loth KA, Pilates. Associations with body image and disordered-eating behaviours in a population-based sample of young adults. *Int J Eat Disord* 2011;44:276–80.
- 128. Olson MS, Williford HN, Martin RS, Ellis M, Woolen E, Esco MR. The energy cost of a basic, intermediate, and advanced Pilates' mat workout. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2004;**36**:2411.
- 129. Petrofsky JS, Morris A, Bonacci J, Hanson A, Jorritsma R, Hill J. Muscle use during exercise: a comparison of conventional weight equipment to Pilates with and without a resistive exercise device. J Appl Res 2005;5:160–73.
- Queiroz BC, Cagliari MF, Amorim CF, Sacco IC. Muscle activation during four Pilates core stability exercises in quadruped position. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2010;91:86–92.
- Romanick M, Almquist KL, Bopp EM, Yoder CR. Comparison of abdominal muscle EMG activity during exercises performed on

the Swiss ball and the Pilates multi-chair. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther* 2004;**34**:A48-50 [Abstract].

- 132. Self BP, Bagley AM, Triplett TL, Paulos LE. Functional biomechanical analysis of the Pilates-based reformer during demi-plie movements. *J Appl Biomech* 1996;12:326–37.
- 133. von Sperling de Souza M, Brum Vieira C. Who are the people looking for the Pilates method. *J Bodyw Mov Ther* 2006;**10**:328–34.
- 134. Blum CL. Chiropractic and Pilates therapy for the treatment of adult scoliosis. *J Manipulative Physiol Ther* 2002;**25**:276.
- 135. Bond S. Pilates and the dancer. Physiother Sport 1999;16:9.
- Brown SE, Clippinger K. Rehabilitation of anterior cruciate ligament insufficiency in a dancer using the clinical reformer and a balanced body exercise method. *Work* 1996;7:109–14.
- 137. Hay-Smith J, Standing D. Choosing outcome measures that reflect what is important to the patient: a case study of clinical Pilates in a woman with multiple sclerosis. *N Z J Physiother* 2010;**38**:91–7.
- 138. Kermode F. Benefits of utilising real-time ultrasound imaging in the rehabilitation of the lumbar spine stabilising muscles following low back injury in the elite athlete – a single case study. *Phys Ther Sport* 2004;5:13–6.
- 139. Lugo-Larcheveque N, Pescatello LS, Dugdale TW, Veltri DM, Roberts WO. Management of lower extremity malalignment during running with neuromuscular retraining of the proximal stabilizers. *Curr Sports Med Rep* 2006;5:137–40.
- 140. Yang YM, Yang HB, Park JS, Kim H, Lee SW, Kim JH. Spontaneous diaphragmatic rupture complicated with perforation of the stomach during Pilates. *Am J Emerg Med* 2010;28:259.
- 141. Bernardo LM, Nagle EE. Does Pilates training benefit dancers. *J Dance Med Sci* 2006;**10**:46–50.
- 142. Bernardo LM. The effectiveness of Pilates training in healthy adults: an appraisal of the research literature. *J Bodyw Mov Ther* 2007;11:106–10.
- 143. Lim ECW, Poh RLC, Low AY, Wong WP. Effects of Pilates-based exercises on pain and disability in individuals with persistent, non specific low back pain: a systematic review with meta-analysis. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 2011;41:70–80.
- 144. Posadzki P, Lizis P, Hagner-Derengowska M. Pilates for low back pain: a systematic review. *Complement Ther Clin Pract* 2011;**17**:85–9.
- 145. Collins J, Fauser B. Balancing the strengths of systematic and narrative reviews. *Hum Reprod Update* 2005;11:103–4.
- 146. Cook D, Mulrow C, Haynes R. Systematic reviews: synthesis of best evidence for clinical decisions. *Ann Intern Med* 1997;126:376–80.
- 147. Schlesselman J, Collins J. Evaluating systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Semin Reprod Med* 2003;21:95–105.
- 148. Granata KP, Wilson SE. Trunk posture and spinal stability. *Clin Biomech* 2001;16:650-9.
- Urquhart DM, Hodges PW, Story IH. Postural activity of the abdominal muscles varies between regions of these muscles and between body positions. *Gait Posture* 2005;22:295–301.